FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/31/2022 4:17 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON 4 80 8/31/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101232-2

Court of Appeals No. 83548-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ECHO GLOBAL LOGISTICS, INC.,

Appellant,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert L. Mahon, WSBA No. 26523 Renée E. Rothauge, WSBA No. 20661 Perkins Coie LLP 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 4900 Seattle, Washington 98101-3099 Telephone: 206.359.8000

Facsimile: 206.359.8000

Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Echo Global Logistics, Inc. ("Echo").

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Echo seeks review of the published decision filed on August 1, 2022, by Division I of the Court of Appeals in *Echo Global Logistics, Inc. v. Department of Revenue*, No. 83548-1-I. A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A.

III. INTRODUCTION

This case involves the meaning of the undefined word "operating" in the public utility tax ("PUT") definition of "motor transportation business," RCW 82.16.010(6).¹ The Court of Appeals' interpretation of "operating" is inconsistent with the well-established statutory PUT scheme, is contrary to Department of Revenue's long-standing interpretation of the PUT statute, and has significant impact on all motor transportation providers operating in Washington. By limiting its interpretation of the word "operating" to mean only direct, physical control of a vehicle, the Court of Appeals has dramatically changed the way motor carriers, freight forwarders, and freight brokers will pay taxes for transporting property—rendering a statutory deduction for jointly furnished motor transportation a nullity. Echo respectfully requests that

¹ A copy of RCW 82.16.010 is attached as Appendix B.

this accept review of this matter to ensure that "operating" is given a plain meaning that is consistent with the statutory PUT scheme and the Department's long-standing interpretation of the motor transportation business classification.

The Department has long advised that motor carriers and freight forwarders "operate" vehicles and are subject to PUT as motor transportation businesses when they contract with third-party carriers for the physical transportation of their customers' property. In such circumstances, taxpayers report the entire amount received for transportation on their PUT return under the motor transportation business classification and deduct "amounts actually paid … to another person … as the latter's portion of the consideration due for services jointly furnished by both." RCW 82.16.050.

Contrary to this long-standing administrative treatment, the Court of Appeals held that the motor transportation business classification of the PUT applies only to taxpayers that physically control motor vehicles. App. A at 5. According to the Court of Appeals, contracting with third-party carriers for the transportation of property is "too attenuated from the physical movement of a motor propelled vehicle" to fall within the definition of motor transportation business. *Id*.

In evaluating alternative definitions for the undefined term "operating," the Court of Appeals failed to consider the Department's long-standing interpretation and application of the term to motor carriers and freight forwarders that "operate" motor vehicles by contracting with third-party carriers. *See First Student, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 194 Wn.2d 707, 451 P.3d 1094 (2019) (resolving the ambiguity in the meaning of "for hire" in the definition of "motor transportation business" based on the Department's long-standing interpretation). The Court of Appeals' decision also ignores the broader context of the PUT scheme, including the "jointly furnished service" deduction, which contemplates that motor transportation businesses will be subject to PUT even though all or part of the physical transportation may be provided by another taxpayer. *See* RCW 82.16.050(3).

This petition raises both (i) a conflict between the decision of the Court of Appeals and this Court's decisions regarding the interpretation of statutes and (ii) an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

Unless corrected by this Court, the impact of the Court of Appeals published decision will be widespread.

First, motor carriers and freight forwarders have long reported and paid PUT as "motor transportation businesses" when they contract with third-party carriers to transport their customers' property. The Court of Appeals' decision concludes

that contracting with third-party carriers is "too attenuated from the physical movement of a motor propelled vehicle" to be constitute part of a motor transportation business. App. A at 5. Not only will freight brokers like Echo lose the benefit of taxation under the "motor transportation business" classification of the PUT, so will all motor carriers and freight forwarders that contract with third-party carriers.

Second, the Court of Appeals' decision frustrates the broader PUT scheme by effectively eliminating the "jointly furnished service" deduction for motor transportation businesses. Under the Court of Appeals' interpretation of "operating," the very act of contracting with a third-party carrier for the transportation of the taxpayer's customers' property removes the taxpayer from the motor transportation business PUT classification.

Third, the Court of Appeals' decision will significantly impact the Washington tax costs of motor transportation services and distort the motor transportation marketplace in favor of large motor carriers.

This Court should accept review and confirm the Department's long-standing position that a taxpayer may "operate" motor vehicles within the meaning of the "motor transportation business" PUT definition by contracting with third-party carriers.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

When considering alternative definitions of an undefined statutory term, may a court adopt the meaning that is inconsistent with an administrative agency's long-standing interpretation, renders a statutory deduction superfluous, and distorts the market for motor transportation services?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Echo's Business

Echo is registered and regulated as a freight broker with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, a subdivision of the U.S. Department of Transportation, and the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission. AR 114. Freight brokers are "motor carriers" and "common carriers" under chapter 81.80 RCW (motor freight carriers). RCW 81.80.010(3) and (6).

Echo provides motor transportation services to business customers across a wide range of industries. AR 114. Some customers hire Echo on a shipment-by-shipment basis and others enter longer-term contracts, typically for periods of one to three years. *Id*.

Echo has established a large network of motor carriers that provide the physical transportation of Echo's customers' property. AR 114. Echo's carrier network ranges in size from

large national trucking companies to owner-operators of a single truck. *Id*.

When a customer needs to transport property, Echo generally selects a carrier for the load from its network based on a range of factors that may include the carrier's capabilities, geographic coverage, service quality, reliability, and price. *Id.* Echo accepts tender of its customers' shipment and arranges the selected carrier to transport the property from the point of origin to the destination. AR 118, 126, 131.

Echo charges the customer for the motor transportation based on the rate negotiated and agreed by Echo and the customer. AR 115. Echo separately pays the carrier that physically transports the property based on rates negotiated and agreed by Echo and the carrier. AR 115. Customers are not generally informed or aware of the price Echo pays to the carrier, and carriers are not informed or aware of the price that Echo charges its customer. AR 115.

For accounting and tax purposes, Echo records the entire transportation charge that it receives from its customers as transportation revenue. AR 115. Echo records payments to carriers as transportation costs that are included as part of Echo's "costs of goods sold" for income tax purposes. AR 115-116.

B. Procedural History

The Department conducted an audit of Echo for the period January 1, 2010 through June 30, 2014. AR 139. The Department classified Echo's income under the service and other activities B&O tax classification and issued an assessment of \$1,201,941 in B&O tax, penalties, and interest. AR 138. This assessment was affirmed in the Department's informal review process. AR 166-171. Echo appealed the Department's determination to the Board of Tax Appeals pursuant to RCW 82.03.190. AR 296-299.

The parties presented the case to the Board on crossmotions for summary judgment. The Board issued its final decision granting the Department's motion for summary judgment on July 23, 2020. AR 23-34. The superior court affirmed the Board's decision in an order dated June 30, 2021. CP 185-189.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Board of Tax Appeal's summary judgment order. First, it determined the statutory term, "operate," is undefined and, accordingly, can be defined by looking at dictionary definitions of the term. App. A at 4. However, selecting among definitions, the Court failed to select the definition that could be reconciled with the context of the PUT scheme and the Department of Revenue's regulations

and published guidance concluding that freight forwarders and other motor carriers "operate" motor vehicles when they contract with other carriers for the physical transportation of their customers' property. App. A at 5.

VI. ARGUMENT IN FAVOR OF REVIEW

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with This Court's Rules of Statutory Construction.

Review of this matter is necessary to assure the proper application of this Court's statutory interpretation precedent, including *First Student, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 194 Wash. 2d 707, 710, 451 P.3d 1094, 1096–97 (2019), a recent decision of this Court involving the interpretation of a different phrase in the same statutory definition at issue in this case. The undefined term "operating" in RCW 82.16.010(6) should be given its plain meaning consistent with the statutory PUT scheme and the Department's long-standing interpretation of the PUT.

"Motor transportation business" is defined as "operating any motor propelled vehicle by which persons or property of others are conveyed for hire" and includes "the operation of any motor propelled vehicle" as a common or contract carrier.

RCW 82.16.010(6). The terms "operating" and "operation" are not defined by statute. An undefined term is "given its plain

and ordinary meaning unless a contrary legislative intent is indicated." *State v. Brown*, 194 Wn.2d 972, 976, 454 P.3d 870, 872 (2019) (quoting *Ravenscroft v. Wash. Water Power Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 911, 920-21 (1998)). "To determine the plain meaning of an undefined term, we may look to the dictionary." *HomeStreet, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 166 Wn.2d 444, 451, 210 P.3d 297, 300 (2009). The plain language of the statute must be considered with "the text of the provision, the context of the statute, related provisions, ... and the statutory scheme as a whole." *First Student, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 194 Wash. 2d 707, 710, 451 P.3d 1094, 1096–97 (2019).

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that there are multiple dictionary definitions that meet the grammatical structure of the RCW 82.16.010(6). App. A at 5. The parties put forth two alternative transitive definitions of "operate." According to the Department, the "best" definition of "operate" is "to cause to function usu. by direct personal effort." Department's Br. at 17 (citing definition 2 of the transitive verb "operate"). Part b of the same transitive definition also fits grammatically within RCW 82.16.010(6) while providing a better fit with the PUT scheme as a whole: "to manage and put or keep in operation whether with personal effort or not." Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1581 (2002) (emphasis added).

1. The Court of Appeals' decision fails to consider the context of the PUT scheme.

When interpreting statutes, courts "derive legislative intent solely from the plain language of the statute, considering the text of the provision, the context of the statute, related provisions, amendments to the provision, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *First Student, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 194 Wash. 2d 707, 710, 451 P.3d 1094, 1096–97 (2019). In selecting the definition of "operate" that requires "direct personal effort," the Court of Appeals failed to consider the context of the PUT definition and the broader PUT scheme.

First, PUT is imposed on businesses, not drivers. RCW 82.16.020(1). Except in the case of a sole proprietor owner-operator, motor transportation businesses *always* cause motor vehicles to function by contracting with others. Sometimes those contracts are with employees; sometimes, as here, those contracts are with independent contractors.

Second, the Court of Appeals' interpretation ignores the deduction available to motor transportation businesses in RCW 82.16.050(3) and renders the deduction a nullity. PUT system requires taxpayers to report and pay PUT on their "gross income" from the motor transportation business. RCW 82.16.020(1)(f). However, motor transportation businesses are permitted to deduct from gross income "[a]mounts actually paid

by a taxpayer to another person taxable under [the PUT] as the latter's portion of the consideration due for services furnished jointly by both" RCW 82.16.050(3). See also WAC 458-20-180(7)(b) (noting the application of the jointly furnished services deduction to motor transportation businesses). Under the Court of Appeals' interpretation of "operates," no motor transportation would ever be entitled to a deduction for jointly furnished services because any taxpayer contracting with another carrier for all or part of the transportation service would not be causing vehicles to function through direct personal effort.

In contrast, the second transitive definition of "operate"—"to manage and put or keep in operation whether with personal effort or not"—reflects the context of the PUT scheme and avoids rendering the jointly furnished services deduction a nullity in connection with motor transportation businesses. Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1581 (2002) (emphasis added). Under this definition, a motor transportation business may "operate" motor vehicles by contracting with third-party carriers and may deduct amounts paid to such carriers as a jointly furnished service. RCW 82.16.050(3).

2. The Court of Appeals' decision ignores the Department of Revenue's long-standing administrative interpretation of the PUT statute.

The Department has long held that taxpayers are subject to PUT as motor transportation businesses (and, thus, "operate" motor vehicles) when they provide transportation services to customers through contracts with third-party motor carriers.

Since 1994, the Department's PUT regulations have included an example in which a taxpayer is subject to PUT as a motor transportation business and is permitted a deduction for jointly furnished services despite subcontracting with another carrier for part of the physical transportation:

Manufacturing Company hires ABC Transport (ABC) to haul goods from Tacoma to a manufacturing facility in Bellingham. ABC subcontracts part of the haul to XYZ Freight (XYZ) and has XYZ haul the goods from Tacoma to Everett, where the goods are loaded into ABC's truck and transported to Bellingham. ABC may deduct the payments it makes to XYZ from its gross income as XYZ's portion of the consideration paid by Manufacturing Company for transportation services furnished jointly by both ABC and XYZ.

WAC 458-20-179(201)(f)(example 1). See WSR 94-13-034 (filed June 6, 1994) (adding the current example with minor difference in language to WAC 458-20-179). See also WAC

458-20-180(7)(b) (providing a similar subcontracting example in the Department's motor carrier rule).

For over twenty years, the Department has held that taxpayers are subject to PUT as motor transportation businesses even when a third-party carrier performs all the transportation service. For example, in a decision that the Department designated precedential pursuant to RCW 82.32.410, the Department held that a public transit agency was subject to PUT on gross income from paratransit services where the agency contracted out the physical transportation to private, forprofit carriers. Washington Dep't of Revenue Det. No. 01-167E, 21 Wash. Tax Det. 272 (2002). In that case, "the vendors drove, operated, supplied, and maintained the paratransit vans" and the taxpayer "received all applications for service, screened users for eligibility, and scheduled required van usage." *Id*.

In 2009, the Department published an excise tax advisory advising that freight forwarders are "motor transportation businesses" subject to PUT based on "contractual responsibility to move freight" even though they "own[] no rolling stock and contract[] with others for the actual handling and transportation

² The determination was subsequently withdrawn by the Department because of uncertainty over whether the taxpayer might qualify for a PUT exemption under RCW 82.16.047.

of the goods (including pickup and deliver)." Excise Tax Advisory 3149.2009 (copy attached at Appendix C). As in the examples in WAC 458-20-179, WAC 458-20-180, and Determination 01-167E, the Department's excise tax advisory concludes that the "operating" element of RCW 82.16.010(6) can be satisfied by "be[ing] contractually (but not necessarily physically) responsible for transporting the property using motor vehicles." Excise Tax Advisory 3149.2019 (copy attached as Appendix D).

The examples in WAC 458-20-179 and 458-20-180,
Determination No. 01-167E, and Excise Tax Advisories
3149.2009 and 3149.2019, all confirm that taxpayers may
"operate" motor vehicles and are subject to PUT as "motor
transportation businesses" when they are "contractually (but not
necessarily physically) responsible for transporting the property
using motor vehicles." Excise Tax Advisory 3149.2019.⁴

In First Student, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 194

³ Excise Tax Advisories are interpretive and policy statements issued by the Department pursuant to RCW 34.05.230. They carry a similar weight and effect as the Department's interpretative rules in that they serve as advanced notice of the Department's position and are not legally binding on taxpayers or courts. *See Ass'n of Washington Bus. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 155 Wn.2d 430, 447, 120 P.3d 46, 54 (2005).

⁴ While the Department has attempted to distinguish freight brokers from freight forwarders and other motor carriers, those distinctions have no bearing on the meaning of "operating."

Wn.2d 707, 719, 451 P.3d 1094, 1101 (2019), this Court addressed an ambiguity in the meaning of "for hire" in RCW 82.16.010(6)—the same PUT definition as is at issue in this case. The Court resolved that ambiguity "in favor of the long-standing interpretation" of the statute by the Department. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to do the same.

3. Ambiguities in tax classification statutes should be construed in favor of taxpayers.

The plain meaning of "operating" should be resolved by examining the use of the term in the context of the PUT statutory scheme and the Department's long-standing interpretation of the statute. However, if there is any ambiguity in the meaning of "operate" or the definition of "motor transportation business," it must be resolved most strongly against the Department and in favor of Echo. *Ski Acres, Inc. v. Kittitas County*, 118 Wn.2d 852, 857, 827 P.2d 1000 (1992). RCW 82.16.010 is a tax statute that defines the scope of the PUT classification for "motor transportation businesses." RCW 82.16.020(1)(f). The general rule of construction of tax statutes in favor of taxpayers applies to tax classification statutes. *Agrilink Foods, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 153 Wn.2d 392, 399, 103 P.3d 1226, 1230 (2005) (n.1).

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision that Motor
Transportation Businesses Must Cause a Vehicle to
Function with Direct Personal Effort Presents an Issue
of Substantial Public Importance.

The Court of Appeals' decision concludes that contracting with third-party carriers is "too attenuated from the physical movement of a motor propelled vehicle" to constitute part of a motor transportation business. App. A at 5. This conclusion impacts not only freight brokers like Echo, but other motor carriers and freight forwarders who have long reported and paid PUT as "motor transportation businesses" when they contract with third-party carriers to transport their customers' property. *See* WAC 458-20-179(201)(f), WAC 458-20-180(7)(b), Determination No. 01-167E, and Excise Tax Advisories 3149.2009 and 3149.2019.

For example, the Department has advised freight forwarders that the "operating" element of RCW 82.16.010(6) can be satisfied by "be[ing] contractually (but not necessarily physically) responsible for transporting the property using motor vehicles." Excise Tax Advisory 3149.2019. Not so under the Court of Appeals' conclusion that "operates" requires direct personal effort to cause a vehicle to function.

The Department previously advised carriers that they are subject to PUT as motor transportation businesses when they subcontract out transportation to other motor carriers. WAC

458-20-179(201)(f); WAC 458-20-180(7)(b). Not so under the Court of Appeals' decision.

The Department previously advised transit agencies that the "operating" element of the definition when it contracted with private vendors to transport the agency's passengers. Not so under the Court of Appeals' decision.

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