FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/30/2022 10:42 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1012322

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ECHO GLOBAL LOGISTICS, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Charles Zalesky, WSBA 37777 Jessica Fogel, WSBA 36846 Assistant Attorneys General PO Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5515 OID No. 91027

III.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE					
	A.	A. Echo Arranges Transportation of its Customers' Property				
	B. The Department Assessed Echo for Underpaid B&O Tax, and the Board of Tax Appeals and Reviewing Courts All Affirmed					
IV.	REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW					
	A. The Decision Below Does Not Conflict with Any Decision of This Court or the Court of Appeals					
		1.	The Court of Appeals' decision faithfully applies the rules of statutory construction	8		
		2.	The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with First Student	. 11		
		3.	The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with the Department's guidance	. 13		
		4.	The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with the statutory context	. 16		
	В.		e Court of Appeals' Decision Raises No Issue Substantial Public Importance	. 20		
V.	CC	CONCLUSION24				

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Echo Global Logistics, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, _ Wn. App. 2d _, 514 P.3d 704 (2022)passim				
First Student v. Dep't of Revenue, 194 Wn.2d 707, 451 P.3d 1094 (2019)11, 12				
Johnson v. Cont'l West, Inc., 99 Wn.2d 555, 663 P.2d 482 (1983)8				
Puget Sound Energy v. Dep't of Revenue, 158 Wn. App. 616, 248 P.3d 1043 (2010), rev. denied, 171 Wn.2d 1010 (2011)				
<u>Statutes</u>				
RCW 82.04.260(6)				
RCW 82.04.290(2) (2014)				
RCW 82.16.010(6)				
RCW 82.16.050(3)				
Rules				
RAP 13.4(b)(1)7				
Regulations				
WAC 458-20-179(202)(f)				
WAC 458-20-180				

Treatises

Henry Campbell Black, Handbook <i>on the Construction</i> and Interpretation of the Laws (2d ed. 1911)
Other Authorities
Karl N. Llewellyn, Remarks on the Theory of Appellate Decision and the Rules or Canons about How Statutes Are to Be Construed, 3 Vand. L. Rev. 395 (1950)

I. INTRODUCTION

This case arose after the Department of Revenue discovered in an audit that Echo Global Logistics (Echo) had been claiming a preferential business and occupation (B&O) tax rate as an international freight broker even though Echo operates domestically, not internationally. Only after the Department reclassified Echo's business under the correct B&O tax rate did Echo claim it should not pay the B&O tax at all. Echo claimed instead that it should be classified as a public utility subject to the state's public utility tax (PUT), which applies to certain utility and transportation businesses in lieu of the B&O tax.

Echo's entire case hinges on its claim that it qualifies as a "motor transportation business," which is a term defined in the PUT code. RCW 82.16.010(6). Under the plain language of the statutory definition, the person seeking to qualify as a motor transportation business must be "operating" motor propelled vehicles for hire. The Court of Appeals applied basic rules of

statutory construction when it concluded that freight brokers like Echo, who coordinate and manage the movement of goods by hiring third-party carriers, are not "operating" motor propelled vehicles. *Echo Global Logistics, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, _ Wn. App. 2d _, 514 P.3d 704, 707-08 (2022). Therefore, Echo and other freight brokers are not "motor transportation businesses" subject to the PUT. Instead, Echo is a service provider subject to B&O tax on its in-state business activity, as the Court of Appeals correctly concluded. *Id*.

Moreover, Echo identifies no actual conflict with this

Court's (or any other court's) precedent, and presents no issue
of substantial public importance. Importantly, as demonstrated
below, Echo's arguments about future detrimental impact on
motor transportation businesses and distortions in the market
are unsupported by evidence and rely on a warped reading of
the Court of Appeals decision. That decision does nothing more
than require Echo to pay its lawfully owed taxes. It does not
impact those businesses that meet the statutory definition of a

motor transportation business. This Court should reject Echo's unsubstantiated claim of a widespread transformation of the state's tax laws and should deny its petition for review.

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Are freight brokers like Echo excluded from the PUT definition of a "motor transportation business" in RCW 82.16.010(6) when they do not operate motor propelled vehicles as part of their business activity?

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Echo Arranges Transportation of its Customers' Property

Echo is a well-known freight broker that provides "technology-enabled transportation and supply chain management solutions." AR 177. As a freight broker, Echo procures transportation and provides logistics services for customers throughout the country. *Id.* Some of Echo's customers are located in Washington.

Echo itself does not actually transport anything. AR 200, 297. Rather, Echo contracts with third-party carriers that

transport property "under [their] own operating authority." AR 198, ¶¶ 1.A, 1.B. Echo's responsibility under its agreements with carriers is "limited to arranging for, but not actually performing, transportation of a shipper's freight." AR 200, ¶ 2.G. And it is the carrier, not Echo, that "become[s] fully responsible/liable for the freight when it takes/receives possession thereof," and retains that responsibility "until delivery of the shipment." *Id.*, ¶ 3.B. Echo earns its revenue from arranging for transportation and providing other logistics services. AR 178.

B. The Department Assessed Echo for Underpaid B&O Tax, and the Board of Tax Appeals and Reviewing Courts All Affirmed

The Department audited Echo for the period of January 2010 through June 2014. AR 212. For that entire period, Echo reported and paid B&O tax—not PUT tax—under a preferential tax rate that applies to "international" freight brokers. AR 205-09; *see generally* RCW 82.04.260(6) (establishing a preferential

B&O tax classification for various "international" transportation agents and brokers).

In its audit, the Department concluded that Echo—which operates domestically—did not qualify for the preferential tax rate it had claimed, AR 212, and reclassified Echo's business activity as domestic freight brokering subject to the "service and other" classification of the B&O tax. AR 213; see generally former RCW 82.04.290(2) (2014) (the catchall B&O tax classification that applies to business activity not otherwise "taxed explicitly under another section in this chapter"). Based on that change in classification and other audit findings not at issue, the Department issued an assessment of additional B&O tax, plus penalties and interest, in the amount of \$1,201,941.

Echo sought administrative review of the assessment within the Department, arguing its business activity should be reclassified as either "motor transportation business" or "public

service business" subject to the PUT. AR 223. The Department rejected both claims. AR 232-40.¹

Echo appealed to the Board of Tax Appeals, seeking de novo review. AR 296. On cross motions for summary judgment, the Board granted the Department's motion and denied Echo's motion, concluding that Echo did not meet the plain terms of the PUT classifications it was claiming. AR 32-33.

The Superior Court affirmed the Board's decision on review under the Administrative Procedure Act. CP 189. The Court of Appeals also affirmed, concluding Echo met neither the "motor transportation business" definition nor the "public service business" definition. *Echo Global*, 514 P.3d at 710. Echo now seeks this Court's review on only the issue of whether its business falls within the "motor transportation business" classification of the PUT. Pet. Rev. at 4-5.

¹ Echo dropped its claim that it is a "public service business" in its petition for review.

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Echo fails to satisfy the RAP 13.4(b) review criteria.

Echo points to no case with which the Court of Appeals'

decision actually conflicts. Nor does the application of statutory
language to Echo's business activity raise a substantial public

policy issue warranting this Court's review.

A. The Decision Below Does Not Conflict with Any Decision of This Court or the Court of Appeals

Rather than identifying a conflict with any specific case, Echo argues that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with rules of statutory construction, the context of the PUT scheme, and nonbinding administrative guidance. Pet. Rev. at 8-15. But even if these alleged conflicts existed (they do not), they are not the type of reviewable conflict contemplated by RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Courts have long recognized that rules of interpretation and construction "are not rules of positive law, unless expressly provided by statute." Henry Campbell Black, *Handbook on the*

Construction and Interpretation of the Laws § 3, at 9 (2d ed. 1911). Rather, "they are rules in aid of construing legislation and an aid in the process of determining legislative intent."

Johnson v. Cont'l West, Inc., 99 Wn.2d 555, 559, 663 P.2d 482 (1983). They are "tools of argument." Karl N. Llewellyn,

Remarks on the Theory of Appellate Decision and the Rules or

Canons about How Statutes Are to Be Construed, 3 Vand. L.

Rev. 395, 401 (1950). Thus, even if Echo were correct that the

Court below erred in applying canons of construction, or

misconstrued statutory language, that would not establish a

"conflict" necessitating review by this Court. And, in any event,

Echo is wrong about any alleged conflict.

1. The Court of Appeals' decision faithfully applies the rules of statutory construction

The decision by the Court of Appeals comports with the rules of statutory interpretation. In upholding the Board's grant of summary judgment to the Department, the Court of Appeals correctly stated and applied the principles of statutory interpretation followed by Washington courts. *Echo Global*,

514 P.3d at 707. Specifically, the Court explained that when construing statutes to ascertain the Legislature's intent, courts apply the plain meaning, considering the relevant statutory text, its context, and the statutory scheme, and may resort to dictionaries to determine the meaning of an undefined term. *Id*.

Because Echo's legal theory hinged on whether it was "operating any motor propelled vehicle by which persons or property of others are conveyed for hire," and because the term "operate" is not defined in the PUT statutes, the Court of Appeals analyzed several possible dictionary definitions of "operate" within the context of the statutory language. The Court agreed with the Department that the statute uses "operating" as a transitive verb, which is a verb that acts on something and whose meaning must be determined in relation to its direct object. Echo Global, 514 P.3d at 707. Within the context of the statute, a "motor propelled vehicle" is the direct object of "operating," like "operating a car" or "operating a forklift." Therefore, under basic rules of grammar, the proper

meaning of "operating" must be determined in relation to a motor propelled vehicle, which is the thing (direct object) being operated. *Id*.

The Court noted that Echo's first proposed definition of operate—which was to "produce as effect"—would alter the grammatical structure of the sentence by changing the direct object from a "motor propelled vehicle" to "transportation." *Id*. The Court logically rejected Echo's grammatically incorrect dictionary definition.

The Court also reasoned that Echo's two alternative definitions of operate—"to perform a work or labor" and "to exert power or influence"—did not support Echo's proposed construction of a motor transportation business. *Id.* This was so because both definitions suggested a "direct connection" between the performance or exertion of work, labor, or power and the consequential result on the motor propelled vehicle. *Id.* The Court concluded Echo's business activity of facilitating transportation by hiring third-party carriers was "too attenuated

from the physical movement of a motor propelled vehicle to reasonably fall within even its own proposed grammatically appropriate dictionary definition of 'operate.'" *Id*.

Without adopting a specific definition, the Court concluded that because Echo merely arranges for transportation by a third party, "[u]nder the plain language of the statute, Echo is not a motor transportation business and the Board did not err in so holding." *Id.* at 707-08. In short, the Court of Appeals applied the statute's plain language, taking into account its grammatical structure, to Echo's business activities. Its analysis is supported by generally recognized rules of construction and does not conflict with any decision from this Court or the Court of Appeals. Thus, review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not warranted.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with *First Student*

The only case Echo cites in support of a proposed conflict is *First Student v. Department of Revenue*, 194 Wn.2d 707, 451 P.3d 1094 (2019). Pet. Rev. at 10. There is no conflict.

Echo initially cites *First Student* for the unremarkable point that courts derive legislative intent from the plain language of the statute, considering the text, the context, related provisions, amendments and the statutory scheme. *Id.* The Court of Appeals identified and applied these same interpretive principles. *Echo Global*, 514 P.3d at 707. Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with this Court's *First Student* decision with respect to statutory interpretation principles.

Echo also cites *First Student* in support of its argument that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the Department's interpretation of the PUT. Pet. Rev. at 14-15. In *First Student*, this Court resolved an ambiguity with respect to the activity of operating school buses by applying the Department's longstanding interpretation, reflected in WAC 458-20-180, that the activity is subject to B&O tax, not the PUT. 194 Wn.2d at 718-19. Echo contends that the Court of Appeals should have looked to a Department interpretive

statement pertaining to the tax treatment of freight brokers and freight forwarders as guidance in interpreting the meaning of a "motor transportation business." However, even if the relevant PUT statute was ambiguous (as was the circumstance in *First Student*), the Court of Appeals' decision below is consistent with the Department's interpretive statement, as discussed below. Thus, there is no conflict with *First Student* on this point either.

3. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with the Department's guidance

In an effort to find a "conflict," Echo points to

Department guidance pertaining to the tax imposed on freight
forwarders. Pet. Rev. at 12-15. The argument fails on two
levels.

First, a conflict with an *agency* interpretation would not form the basis for this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). If the Department's guidance conflicts with the Court of Appeals holding below, the Court of Appeals interpretation controls.

What Echo calls a "conflict" is nothing more than an effort to

13

find a new forum to re-argue its claim that it is a motor transportation business subject to the PUT.

Second, there is no conflict. According to Echo, the decision below limits the PUT's "motor transportation business" classification to taxpayers that directly and personally operate motor vehicles. *See* Pet. Rev. at 10. Echo claims this conclusion conflicts with Department guidance applying that classification to taxpayers who "provide transportation services to customers through contracts with third-party motor carriers." *Id.* at 12.

Contrary to Echo's claim, however, the Court of Appeals did not select the definition of "operate" that required "direct personal effort." Pet. Rev. at 10. The Court did not select any specific definition. Instead, it simply reasoned that in light of the statutory language and its grammatical structure, Echo's business activity was "too attenuated from the physical movement" of a motor vehicle to come within even Echo's proposed definitions. *Echo Global*, 514 P.3d at 707. Nowhere

did the Court hold that a taxpayer must directly and physically control the vehicle.

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